IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

ST. ELMO CASH, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 81,142

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLEN P. GIFFORD ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #0664261 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court on discretionary review of two questions certified by the First District Court of Appeal as being of great public importance. The questions are:

> 1. DOES THE STATE HAVE A POSSESSORY INTEREST IN LOCAL OPTION GASOLINE TAXES COLLECTED BY A RETAIL SELLER UNDER SECTION 336.025 SUCH THAT THE TAXPAYER'S FAILURE TO PAY SUCH TAXES WHEN DUE CONSTITUTES THE OFFENSE OF GRAND THEFT UNDER SECTION 812.014, FLORIDA STATUTES?

> 2. IF THE STATE DOES NOT HAVE A POSSESSORY INTEREST IN THE COLLECTED TAXES, IS A CONVICTION OF GRAND THEFT UNDER THESE CIRCUMSTANCES FUNDAMENTAL ERROR THAT WARRANTS AN APPELLATE COURT TO REVIEW THE ISSUE EVEN THOUGH THE ISSUE HAS NOT BEEN PROPERLY PRESERVED BY THE DEFENDANT?

In the brief that follows, Point I concerns the two certified questions. Petitioner relies heavily on the dissenting opinion of Judge Zehmer on this point. Point II bears on the sufficiency of the evidence on the element of intent, an issue raised by petitioner below and addressed in the dissenting opinion below. Another potential issue in this case concerns whether another statute preempts a prosecution under the grand

-1-

theft statute. In his dissenting opinion, Judge Zehmer wrote on this issue after the parties argued the point in compliance with the supplemental briefing order. However, since this issue falls outside the ambit of the certified questions, petitioner has refrained from argument thereon in this brief. Petitioner has also omitted two evidentiary arguments made below but not addressed by the district court, on admission of tax returns and bank statements and on admission of his statement to a state investigator. Petitioner stands ready to submit a supplemental brief on any of these issues if the Court so directs.

Herein, pleadings and orders are designated (R[page number]), and transcript citations appear as (T[page number]).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged petitioner under section 812.014, Florida Statutes, with grand theft of more than \$20,000 in currency. (R1) The state alleged that between January 1 and August 31, 1987, Cash "did . . . knowingly obtain or use or endeavor to obtain or use certain property of the State of Florida, to wit: approximately \$37,305.59 U.S. currency, . . . ." (R1) Trial commenced before Circuit Judge Elzie Sanders. (T1) During the state's case, defense counsel objected to the admission of tax returns and bank documents appellant had turned over to a state Department of Revenue investigator. (T26, 65) The court overruled both objections and admitted the documents. (T27-30, 65)

After the state rested, defense counsel moved for judgment of acquittal. (T92-96) Among his arguments was the following:

> In the alternative, as grounds for motion for Judgment of Acquittal the State has alleged as a victim in this case that Cash took or obtained or used monies belonging to the State of Florida and has specifically alleged the State of Florida as the victim in this case. It is clear from the evidence of the witnesses in this case that the State of Florida had no possessory interest in the monies collected. It was simply a conduit. If there was in fact local option taxes collected in 1987, those taxes belonged to the Alachua County Board of Commissioners. It is not alleged that Alachua County was the victim in this case. No one from the County has come and testified that they are in fact the victim of theft in this case.

(T93-94) The court denied the motion. (T97) Defense counsel renewed the motion at the close of the defense case, during which

-3-

Cash testified, and argued lack of proof of criminal intent. (T117) The motion was denied. (T118)

Following closing arguments, final instructions and deliberations, the jury found Cash guilty as charged of grand theft of more than \$20,000 in currency. (T162, R35) His motions for a new trial and judgment notwithstanding the verdict were denied. (R41-45, T169) The court withheld adjudication of guilt and imposed a sanction of five years probation. (R46-47, T173-175)

On direct appeal, Cash argued two evidentiary points and also asserted error in the trial court's denial of acquittal for lack of proof of criminal intent. The district court ordered supplemental briefs "explaining the legal basis for ruling that the local option gas tax collected by the defendant but not remitted with the return was legally U.S. currency belonging to the state of Florida within the meaning of the provisions of the grand theft statute . . . " (Appendix B) In the supplemental briefs, Cash argued that the state, as a conduit or fiscal agent for proceeds earmarked for the counties, had no possessory interest in the tax proceeds. The parties participated in oral argument set sua sponte by the court. Thirteen months later, the district court issued an opinion in the case. (Appendix A). The court affirmed Cash's conviction but certified the two questions now before this Court. Slip op. at 2. In dissent, Judge Zehmer deemed meritless Cash's argument that the state alleged the wrong victim because the county was the true, uncharged victim. However, Judge Zehmer concluded that the state had no possessory

-4-

interest in the tax proceeds sufficient to satisfy an essential element of grand theft. <u>Slip op.</u> at 10-21. He also found insufficient proof of criminal intent. <u>Slip op.</u> at 22.

Petitioner's motion for rehearing and clarification was denied. He filed notice to invoke the discretionary review of this Court. This brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

As stated by Judge Zehmer in his dissenting opinion, the basic evidentiary facts are undisputed.

Section 336.025, Florida Statutes (1987), authorized county governments to levy a local option gas tax of one to six cents per gallon of gasoline sold at retail stations within the county. (T24) Alachua County adopted the tax. Under section 336.025, the tax levied via the county ordinance was to be paid by a retail dealer with a monthly return filed with the state Department of Revenue. (State Ex. 3)

Cash was the sole owner of a Chevron service station from 1958 until he lost his franchise during events leading to this prosecution. (T98-113) Although he had complied with his gasoline tax obligations for years, his business began to decline in 1985, and by 1987 he became unable to pay the local option gasoline tax proceeds. (T103-105) For each month from January through August, he signed the gasoline tax returns prepared by his accountants and made out checks for the amount due, but withheld both from the Department of Revenue in hopes that a business upturn or sale of other property would enable him to cover the checks. (T105, 108) Cash filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy in October 1987, but the petition was dismissed in April 1988 because the assets remaining after property foreclosures and loss of his lease with Chevron were insufficient to support reorganization. (T111-114)

Employees of the Department of Revenue noticed Cash's failure to file returns for the preceding months in June 1987.

-6-

(T21) A department analyst advised Cash by telephone of the delinquency and requested submission of the returns. (T47) A written notice dated July 8, 1987 notified Cash of the delinquent taxes, penalty and interest, a total of \$37,170. (T36-37, State Ex. 2) The analyst tried unsuccessfully to contact Cash by telephone in August. (T41) Cash filed the delinquent returns for January through August 1987 in October 1987, but included no money or checks. (T47, State Ex. 1) The analyst testified that several methods were available to the department to collect delinquent taxes, including civil litigation, tax liens, a tax warrant and a forced sale of property. (T44)

A Department of Revenue investigator interviewed Cash on May 25, 1988. (T62) The investigator testified that Cash agreed to talk without a lawyer present. (T67-68) Cash admitted admitted that he signed the returns and made the decision not to pay the taxes due. (State Ex. 7(1)) Other pertinent questions and responses included:

> Q: Did you have knowledge that it was unlawful for you to convert these funds to your personal use? A: Well, I never thought of it like that. I thought of it like we are going to pay this. Q: Did you have knowledge that these were State and County funds at the moment they were collected? A: I knew they were not mine. The State or whatever.

> Q: Mr. Cash, would you agree with the following statement. If the local option gas tax is included in the price of the fuel and therefore collected, when the fuel was sold and not remitted to the Department of Revenue, that these funds were converted to your business or personal use?

> > -7-

A: If I collected them in that property, I am sure they were. I mean, in the amount of profit, I am sure they were.

(State Ex. 1). Cash gave the investigator bank statements and canceled checks for the service station, which were admitted at trial. (T63-65, State Ex. 6) Cash also explained to the investigator and again to the jury at trial that his nonpayment of taxes stemmed from business reversals and low profit margins as well as personal reasons. (T86-87, 102-108)

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A superior possessory interest on the part of the I. alleged victim is an essential element of grand theft under section 812.014, Florida Statutes (1987). Petitioner was convicted of grand theft for failure to pay local-option gasoline taxes he collected. Analysis of the statutes and administrative rules governing the collection and remittance of these taxes demonstrates that the state had no possessory interest in the taxes petitioner collected on behalf of the county. Though the statutes and rules create an obligation to remit the taxes collected and provide penalties for noncompliance, nothing in their terms vests a right to possession of the taxes in the state. The conviction thus fails for want of an essential element, resulting in conviction for a crime that never occurred. Conviction of a nonexistent offense is fundamental error that may be addressed for the first time on appeal.

II. In a grand theft prosecution, the state must prove that the felonious intent existed at the time of or prior to the taking. Here, the state proved only that petitioner was unable to turn over taxes he had collected during business operations. Since the applicable statutes and rules required no invoice for the taxes, no segregation of funds, and no accounting of the tax collected, the state could show no point at which the tax proceeds were converted to petitioner's personal use. Consequently, there was a dearth of evidence on the essential element of when, if ever, petitioner entertained felonious intent.

-9-

#### ARGUMENT

I. A CONVICTION FOR GRAND THEFT OF TAX PROCEEDS ALLEGEDLY BELONGING TO THE STATE CONSTITUTES FUNDAMENTAL ERROR IN THE ABSENCE OF ANY BASIS TO CONCLUDE THAT THE STATE HAD A POSSESSORY INTEREST IN THE MONEY COLLECTED.

In his motion for judgment of acquittal, trial counsel made two substantive arguments: (1) that the county was the victim in this case, not the state as charged, and (2) that the state failed to establish criminal intent by competent and substantial evidence. In the district court, Cash argued the second point in the initial and reply briefs. Then, in response to a court order for supplemental briefs "explaining the legal basis for ruling that the local option gas tax collected by the defendant but not remitted with the return was legally U.S. currency belonging to the state of Florida within the meaning of the provisions of the grand theft statute," Cash argued the first point listed above. In affirming the conviction, the court certified two questions:

> 1. DOES THE STATE HAVE A POSSESSORY INTEREST IN LOCAL OPTION GASOLINE TAXES COLLECTED BY A RETAIL SELLER UNDER SECTION 336.025 SUCH THAT THE TAXPAYER'S FAILURE TO PAY SUCH TAXES WHEN DUE CONSTITUTES THE OFFENSE OF GRAND THEFT UNDER SECTION 812.014, FLORIDA STATUTES?

> 2. IF THE STATE DOES NOT HAVE A POSSESSORY INTEREST IN THE COLLECTED TAXES, IS A CONVICTION OF GRAND THEFT UNDER THESE CIRCUMSTANCES FUNDAMENTAL ERROR THAT WARRANTS AN APPELLATE COURT TO REVIEW THE ISSUE EVEN THOUGH THE ISSUE HAS NOT BEEN PROPERLY PRESERVED BY THE DEFENDANT?

The majority opinion also contains the following footnote:

The parties were directed to file supplemental briefs explaining the legal basis for ruling that the local option gas tax collected by the defendant but not remitted with the return was legally U.S. currency belonging to the State of Florida. This matter was not addressed to the trial court, and we make no ruling on matters discussed in the supplemental briefs. The appellant did argue to the trial court that the state had no possessory interest in the tax money, but he has not pursued that issue on appeal.

<u>Slip op.</u> at 2. As the undersigned counsel attempted to explain in a motion for rehearing and clarification, he responded to the order for supplemental briefing by making the same argument on appeal as was made by trial counsel below: that the state had no possessory interest in the taxes because it was merely a conduit or fiscal agent for the county, the ultimate repository of the tax proceeds. (Appendix C). The motion was denied. (Appendix D). The dissenting opinion of Judge Zehmer revealed that the concerns prompting the supplemental briefing order lay elsewhere. The panel evidently viewed these facts as posing the question of the state's possessory interest in taxes collected as against the retailer who collected them, not as against the county.

The undersigned counsel cannot argue in good faith that this argument was made in the trial court. Nor can he improve upon the painstaking analysis of the dissent on this highly technical issue, though after several readings he can say that he understands Judge Zehmer's reasoning and is prepared to doggedly advocate its adoption by this Court at oral argument. At this stage, petitioner simply urges this Court to answer the first certified question in the negative for the reasons expressed by Judge Zehmer at pages 10-21 of the opinion below. Petitioner also requests that this Court answer the second certified question in the affirmative for the reasons expressed by Judge

-11-

Zehmer at page 3 of the opinion -- that fundamental error results from conviction of a nonexistent offense. In addition to the opinions cited in the dissent on the second question, <u>see</u> <u>Troyer v. State</u>, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D2721 (Dec. 2, 1991) (conviction of crime that never occurred is fundamentally erroneous). II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AFTER THE STATE FAILED TO PROVIDE LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF FELONIOUS INTENT.

The state charged that petitioner acted with the intent to deprive the State of Florida of the tax funds, or to appropriate the property to his own use. (R1) In his motion for judgment of acquittal, defense counsel asserted that the state failed to establish criminal intent. (T117) The motion was denied. (T118)

In a grand theft prosecution, the state must prove that the felonious intent existed at the time of or prior to the taking. Stramaglia v. State, 603 So.2d 536, 538 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); Brewer v. State, 413 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), rev. denied, 426 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1983). Here, the state proved only that Cash collected the 6-cent-per-gallon tax during the first part of 1987, but was unable to pay the money he had collected. Cash's statement to the Department of Revenue investigator added little or nothing to the quantum of proof. None of the evidence established a point at which Cash could be said to have converted the taxes collected, or to have intended to deprive the state of their use. As Judge Zehmer showed in his dissenting opinion, the law imposed no obligation on Cash to specify the taxes on an invoice, to segregate them from general revenues, or to make an accounting of the amount collected. Moreover, as Judge Zehmer observed in his dissent, slip op. at 22, Cash is not bound by his admission that he knew these funds belonged to the state because his answer was based on a faulty premise pressed on him by his interrogator. See Fiske v. State, 366 So.2d 423, 424 (Fla. 1978) (where defendant's statement "is ambiguous and susceptible of

-13-

innocent explanation as well as being indicative of criminal
knowledge,"

such ambiguity must be resolved in favor of the accused.).

Cash's trial testimony echoed his statement to the investigator in attributing his tax woes to a series of business downturns that culminated in his loss of the business and all other properties he owned. Unable to pay the tax, he completed monthly returns but held onto them in the hope that the sale of property would enable him to meet the obligation. Coming from a small businessman who had run his service station within the law and in compliance with his tax obligations for 28 years, this unrefuted testimony supported the defense's assertion of insufficient proof of felonious intent.

In <u>Szilagyi v. State</u>, 564 So.2d 644 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), the defendants were convicted of grand theft after a detective concluded that they were engaged in a jewelry "bust-out" operation. A detective with no prior experience in such cases reached this conclusion after learning that the defendants' business owed different creditors money and that the defendants could not be found. At trial, creditors testified that the appellants ordered merchandise on credit and then either returned the merchandise or failed to pay for it. <u>Id</u>. at 645. While acknowledging that felonious intent is usually a question for the jury, the appellate court concluded that the state was unable to negate every reasonable hypothesis of innocence. The court noted that the conduct for which the appellants were prosecuted was in

-14-

most respects identical to the conduct of a legitimate business that tries and fails. Id. at 646.

Here, as in <u>Szilagyi</u>, Cash's actions were those of an honest businessman who finally, after 28 years, failed to keep his enterprise afloat. In a situation analogous to that of <u>Szilagyi</u>, in which the detective had no experience with "bust-out" operations, this case was one of the first assigned to a new Department of Revenue investigator. (T85) The state made no allegation that Cash committed a crime in not keeping the local-option tax proceeds segregated from other revenues. Under its theory of conversion, the state could show no specific point at which the taxes were converted to the defendant's use, and consequently could not show that Cash had the requisite felonious intent at the time of conversion.

In <u>Stramaglia v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, 603 So.2d at 538, the court held that broken promises to pay for property already taken are insufficient to establish criminal intent to steal the property. Cash stated in his interrogation by the department investigator that he never thought of his nonpayment as conversion because he thought he would be able to pay it. (State Ex. 7(1)). The fact that he proved unable to pay the taxes does not make him a thief. It did render him subject to a variety of civil enforcement methods and penalties under Chapters 306 and 336, Florida Statutes, as the investigator testified. (T44-45) Here, as in <u>Stramaglia</u>, this case involved a civil rather than a criminal issue. <u>Id</u>. at 538. <u>See also</u>, <u>Grover v. State</u>, 581 So.2d 1379, 1382 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (case should not have gone to jury when

-15-

state presented insufficient circumstantial evidence of requisite intent in larceny).

For these reasons, the trial court erred in denying the motion for judgment of acquittal.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments contained herein and the authorities cited in support thereof, petitioner requests that this Honorable Court quash the decision of the district court of appeal, and remand with directions to order his acquittal.