047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE MAD 29 1993 BLERK, SUPREME COURT
By—Chief Deputy Clerk

ST. ELMO CASH, JR.,

Petitioner,

٧.

CASE NO. 81-142

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN J. MOSLEY, #593280 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS, #325791 BUREAU CHIEF-CRIMINAL APPEALS

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

The debtor-creditor argument was also advanced and rejected in People v. Felber, 34 N.Y.S.2d 609 (N.Y. S.Ct. App. Div. 1st Dept. 1942), where the court stated:

It is insisted that no larceny has been proved against this defendant because the officers of Mab Motors, Inc., whom defendant was charged with aiding and abetting, did not themselves appropriate any money from the City; that while they may be penalized for failure to pay over the sales taxes, they may not be charged with embezzling funds because the moneys collected from taxpayers at no time belonged to the City. We find no merit to this contention. Mab Motors, Inc., had in its possession and custody as bailee, agent or trustee for the City, the funds which it had collected from its customers, and when it and its officers applied such sums to their own use, the larceny was complete. fraudulent conversion, by a vendor, of City sales tax money so collected from purchasers, constitutes larceny.

<u>Id.</u>, at 611-612.

3. The dissenting judge argues that the collected taxes were not funds of the government because the Legislature did not explicitly describe them as government funds. He states, "Only when there is a specific statutory provision identifying the money or currency collected for taxes as funds belonging to the state does the failure to remit such taxes constitute the criminal offense of grand theft." (S.O. 28)

Two statutes, sections 206.41 and 206.56, expressly provide that motor fuel taxes collected by refiners, importers, and wholesalers are state funds. The dissenting judge argues that these provisions do not apply to retail dealers of motor fuel, notwithstanding the language in section 336.025(2)(a) that "[t]he sections of chapter 206, including, but not limited to, ... also apply to the tax authorized in this section." (S.O. 13-19) He states that "only those provisions [of Chapter 206] that apply to taxes that are calculated on the basis of gallons sold with the amount thereof being included in total price of the fuel sold are incorporated under [section 336.025(2)(a)]." (S.O. 14)

In response, the State points out that the provisions which the dissenting judge cites in Part I of Chapter 206 only govern refiners, importers, and wholesalers because they, not retailers, are responsible for collection of Chapter 206, Part I, taxes. Obviously, if these requirements are to be made applicable to local option taxes as the Legislature intended, they must be applied to retailers, who are the parties collecting those taxes, rather than to refiners, importers, and wholesalers. Part II of Chapter 206 clearly makes the provisions cited by the dissenting judge, specifically sections 206.23 and 206.49, applicable to certain "retailers," notwithstanding that they would otherwise seem not to apply. See section 206.97. Furthermore, the provisions of Part II of Chapter 206 are as applicable to the provisions of section 336.025 as are the provisions of Part I of Chapter 206.

4. The dissenting judge argues that explicit statutory language declaring the collected taxes to be government funds is required in order to give the taxpayer adequate notice that the funds are not his. He states:

Nothing on [the tax] form, in the statute, or in the department's regulations places a retail dealer on notice that the moneys or "currency" collected as part of the retail gas sale are funds of the state and must be accounted for accordingly. (S.O. 20)

Without such statutory provision, the taxpayer is not informed that the money or currency so collected is not available for use by the taxpayer and must be accounted for separately. (S.O. 28)

Implicit in this argument is the assumption that the funds do in fact belong to the government. The issue is simply whether the government's ownership of the funds has been adequately communicated to the tax collector.

The State's response is that retail dealers have sufficient statutory notice that the collected funds belong to the government and not to them. Section 336.025(a) plainly states that the retailer is to collect the tax from his customers and remit it to the state. This same provision provides that "[t]he sections of Chapter 206, including but not limited to those sections relating to timely filing of reports and tax collected ... also apply to the tax authorized in this section." Thus, the retailer is on notice that he has to file his report and remit the collections for the previous month on the 20th day of each month. Section 336.025(b) provides that the retailer is to

retain 3% of the collections as compensation for his efforts on behalf of the state. The only rational inference to be drawn from this provision is that the remainder of the funds belongs to the state. Section 212.62(1) expressly makes the retail dealer a state agent to collect one type of sales tax on motor and diesel fuel under certain circumstances, and section 212.62(5) requires the retailer to post a sign on each pump that the price stated on the pump includes applicable state sales taxes.

- 5. The dissenting judge argues that the Legislature intended the tax law provisions covering criminal and civil penalties to be the exclusive remedy for sales tax violations. (S.O. 23-27) Since Cash has not pursued this issue before this court (PIB. 1-2), the State will not address the merits of the dissenting judge's argument.
- 6. The dissenting judge argues that the element of intent was not proved by the State. This argument will be addressed under the third point raised by Cash in his merits brief.

ISSUE II (CERTIFIED QUESTION)

IF THE STATE DOES NOT HAVE A POSSESSORY INTEREST IN THE COLLECTED TAXES, IS A CONVICTION OF GRAND THEFT UNDER THESE CIRCUMSTANCES FUNDAMENTAL ERROR THAT WARRANTS AN APPELLATE COURT TO REVIEW THE ISSUE EVEN THOUGH THE ISSUE HAS NOT BEEN PROPERLY PRESERVED BY THE DEFENDANT?

The answer to the certified question is "No." Cash's argument on this issue in its entirety consists of the following:

Petitioner also requests that this Court answer the second certified question in the affirmative for the reasons expressed by Judge Zehmer at page 3 of the opinion — that fundamental error results from conviction of a nonexistent offense. In addition to the opinions cited in the dissent on the second question, see Troyer v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D2721 (Dec. 2, 1991) (conviction of crime that never occurred is fundamentally erroneous).

(PIB. 12)

Appellate courts analyze trial court errors in one of two ways—they apply either the harmless error rule or the fundamental error rule. Since neither rule can be fully understood in isolation, the State necessarily will discuss them both, even though Cash has relied solely on the fundamental error rule. To lay a foundation for understanding this rule, the State first will analyze the harmless error rule followed by a brief discussion of the contemporaneous objection rule and the role of appellate courts in our judicial system.

The harmless error rule applies to errors that were properly raised and preserved at the trial level, and it is the State who has the burden of showing the harmlessness of a properly raised

and preserved error. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). This Court described the harmless error rule as follows:

[I]t places the burden on the state, as the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict or, alternatively, stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. Application of the test requires an examination of the entire record by the appellate court including a close examination of the permissible evidence on which the jury could have legitimately relied, and in addition an even closer examination of the impermissible evidence which might have possibly influenced the jury verdict. [citation omitted]

<u>Id.</u>, at 1135.

The harmless error rule goes hand in hand with the contemporaneous objection rule, a comprehensive explanation of which is found in State v. Applegate, 591 P.2d 371 (Ore. Applegate), where the court stated:

There are many rationales for the raise-or-waive rule: that it is a necessary corollary of our adversary system in which issues are framed by the litigants and presented to a court; that fairness to all parties requires a litigant to advance his contentions at a time when there is an opportunity to respond to them factually, if his opponent chooses to; that the rule promotes efficient trial proceedings; that reversing for error not preserved permits the losing side to second-guess its tactical decisions after they do not produce the desired result; and that there is something unseemly about telling a lower court it was wrong when it never was

The district court of appeal made it clear that the issue was preserved for appeal. <u>DiGuilio v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 487, 488 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

presented with the opportunity to be right. The principal rationale, however, is judicial economy. There are two components to judicial economy: (1) if the losing side can obtain an appellate reversal because of error not objected to, the parties and public are put to the expense of retrial that could have been avoided had an objection been made; and (2) if an issue had been raised in the trial court, it could have been resolved there, and the parties and public would be spared the expenses of an appeal.

<u>Id.</u>, at 373. <u>See</u>, <u>also</u>, <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So. 2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978).

Two factors relating to the contemporaneous objection rule warrant elaboration. First, permitting a defendant to challenge for the first time on appeal the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the jury's verdict would deprive the State of the opportunity of reopening its case to prove a missing element inadvertently overlooked. The law is well established that "the question of allowing the reopening of cases is one involving sound judicial discretion of the trial court, a discretion rarely interfered with at the appellate level." Pitts v. State, 185 So. 2d 164, 166 (Fla. 1966) (trial judge properly permitted State to reopen its case, apparently after jury deliberations commenced, to clarify a "point that had been confused in the original presentation"), vacated on other grounds, 408 U.S. 941 (1972). The rationale for the trial court's discretion was explained in <u>U. S. v. Montgomery</u>, 620 F. 2d 753 (10th Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 882 (1980):

The trial court has some interest in seeing that justice is done and in seeing that all

of the facts are presented. Where, as here, the judge is simply acting to prevent a manifest injustice brought about by inadvertence on the part of the government, the court's exercise of discretion should not be disturbed.

<u>Id.</u>, at 757.

See, also, the following cases holding that the trial court properly exercised its discretion to permit the prosecution to reopen it case for further evidence: Dees v. State, 357 So. 2d 491 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) (State reopened its case to prove venue after defendant moved for judgment of acquittal on ground that venue was not established); Jones v. State, 392 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) (State reopened its case to introduce copy of agency rule after defendant moved for judgment of acquittal on ground that applicable rule had not been admitted); U.S. v. Blankenship, 775 F. 2d 735, 740-41 (6th Cir. 1985) (Government reopened case to introduce evidence of defendant's prior conviction of a felony after defendant moved for judgment of acquittal on ground that this element of offense had not been established); <u>U.S. v. Shurn</u>, 849 F.2d 1090, 1094-1095 (8th Cir. 1988) (Government reopened case to ask its expert another question about practices of drug traffickers); U.S. v. Bolt, 776 F.2d 1463, 1471-1472 (10th Cir. 1985) (Government reopened case to introduce evidence proving that bank was insured after defendant moved for judgment of acquittal on ground that this element of offense had not been established); U.S. v. Washington, 861 F.2d 350, 353 (2d Cir. 1988) (Government reopened case

immediately after resting to have officer identify defendants as same people he had arrested); and <u>U.S. v. Gomez</u>, 908 F.2d 809, 810-811 (11th Cir. 1990), <u>cert. denied</u>, 111 S.Ct. 699 (1991) (Government reopened case to elicit testimony from confidential informant after defendant moved for judgment of acquittal on ground of per se entrapment).

Second, one of the consequences of permitting defense counsel to stand mute at trial with full knowledge of curable defects in the prosecutor's case is the inadvertent encouragement of the practice of deliberately building reversible error into the case, a problem of particular concern to this Court. See, e.g., State v. Jones, 204 So. 2d 515, 518 (Fla. 1967); Clark v. State, 363 So. 2d 331, 335 (Fla. 1978), receded from on other grounds in biGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); and State v. Rhoden, 448 So. 2d 1013, 1016 (Fla. 1984).

In <u>State v. Jones</u>, the defendant complained that the prosecutor commented on his failure to testify. No objection was made in the trial court. On appeal, the district court reversed the conviction, holding that the trial court, <u>sua sponte</u>, should have declared a mistrial. The supreme court quashed the district court's decision, concluding that the prosecutor's argument was within permissible bounds. The <u>Jones</u> court then proceeded to address the procedural issue and offered the following explanation for why an exception to the contemporaneous objection rule had developed:

Previous decisions of this Court indicate broad liberality in applying the exception to the end that there be no infringement in the trial courts of fundamental rights of persons charged with crime. Such an attitude was appropriate in view of the fact that prior to Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799, 93 A.L.R. 733, it was in the trial of capital cases only that indigent defendants were given the assistance of This meant that many defendants who counsel. were unable to hire an attorney and who were unskilled in court procedure and ignorant of their rights were vulnerable to abuses of over-zealous prosecutors. Under such circumstances this Court could do naught but charge the trial judge with the responsibility of prompt and decisive action by ordering a mistrial in such cases. exception as thus recognized was intended to have this salutary effect, "As Heaven does it rains, showers, it favors alike on the high and the low, the rich and the poor," the exception had to be applied to those with counsel as well as to those without counsel. This made it possible for defense counsel to stand mute if he chose to do so, knowing all the while that a verdict against his client was thus tainted and could not stand. such action defendants had nothing to lose and all to gain, for if the verdict be "not guilty" it remained unassailable.

Such procedure is unmindful that an important function of an attorney in a trial is to assist the court. It is the judge's responsibility to supervise the trial. If counsel performs his duty and promptly calls attention to remarks of the prosecutor which he considers prejudicial the court can excuse the jury, hear from both sides and forthwith take appropriate action if the remark in fact is found to be improper. [citation omitted]

Prior to the <u>Gideon</u> case the good resulting from the application of the exception overshadowed the evil, for trial judges, notwithstanding the absence of objection, were admonished to intervene, sua sponte, and declare a mistrial thus assuring to many uninformed defendants on trial without counsel a fair and impartial trial.

At the present time all defendants in criminal trials who are unable to engage counsel are furnished counsel without charge. Application of the exception is no longer necessary to protect those charged with crime who may be ignorant of their rights. Their rights are now well guarded by defending counsel. Under these circumstances further application of the exception will contribute nothing to the administration of justice, but rather will tend to provoke censure of the judicial process as permitting "the use of loopholes, technicalities and delays in the law which frequently benefit rogues at the expense of decent members of society."

It has been suggested that some courts today seem to be preoccupied primarily in carefully assuring that the criminal has all his rights while at the same time giving little concern to the victim. Upon the shoulders of our courts rests the obligation to recognize and maintain a middle ground which will secure to the defendant on trial the rights afforded him by law without sacrificing protection of society. As Mr. Justice Cardozo explained in Snyder v. Commonwealth of Mass., 291 U.S. 97, 122, 54 S.Ct. 330, 338, 78 L.Ed. 674, 687:

"But justice, though due to the accused is due to the accuser also. The concept of fairness must not be strained till it is narrowed to a filament. We are to keep the balance true."

Id., at 518-519. The court then stated that challenges to prosecutorial argument would henceforth be reviewed only when properly raised and preserved for appeal.

Not only does the harmless error rule go hand in hand with the contemporaneous objection rule, but both of these are in close association with the function of appellate courts, which is to review adverse rulings of the trial court. In Johnson v. State, 43 So. 430 (1907), this Court stated:

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